2010

Kilgore Pavement Maintenance, LLC, a Utah limited liability company v. City of West West Jordan : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

In dismissing KPM’s first cause of action, the district court had jurisdiction to hear its claims against West Jordan under Utah Code Ann. § 63G-7-501. Final judgment of dismissal was entered for the West Jordan on January 12, 2010, and KPM timely filed its notice of appeal on February 3, 2010. This Court has jurisdiction to hear KPM’s appeal under Utah Code Ann. §§ 78A-3-102(3) and 78A-3-103(2)(j).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED

This is an appeal by KPM from a dismissal under Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) and final judgment in a civil action alleging commercial impracticability and practical impossibility. In 2008, KPM entered into a contract (the “Contract”) with West Jordan to provide asphalt services, labor and materials for the completion of the 9000 South Road Reconstruction Project—Bangerter Highway to 4000 West (the “Project”). KPM’s bid for the Project was based on the then-current liquid asphalt oil cost of \$350/ton. Within a short period of time and based on unforeseen factors outside of KPM’s control, the price for liquid asphalt oil increased 300% to \$1,005/ton. The district court dismissed KPM’s *Complaint*, and in particular its first cause of action, “Commercial Impracticability/Practical Impossibility,” on the grounds that “pursuant to the contract, [KPM] assumed responsibility for supplying all materials necessary for their performance, and therefore assumed the risk of supply cost increases.” (R. 244.) The

district court further ruled that while it noted the dramatic increase in cost of liquid asphalt oil after the Contract was entered, “a party who assumes the risk of cost increases pursuant to contract terms cannot rely on a claim of impossibility/commercial impracticability.” (R. 244.)

The issues thus presented to this Court are:

1. Did the district court err in determining that KPM assumed the risk of an unforeseen and extraordinary increase in the cost of liquid asphalt oil pursuant to the parties’ contract? Preserved at the Hearing regarding West Jordan’s Motion for Reconsideration. (R. 261.)

2. Did the district court err in dismissing KPM’s first cause of action because of its determination that “a party who assumes the risk of cost increases pursuant to contract terms cannot rely on a claim of impossibility/impracticability”? (R. 244.) This issue was preserved at the Hearing regarding West Jordan’s Motion for Reconsideration. (R. 261.)

DETERMINATIVE RULES

Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 261 (adopted by *Western Prop. v. Southern Utah Aviation, Inc.* 776 P.2d 656 (Utah App. 1989))::

Where, after a contract is made, a party’s performance is made impracticable without his fault by the occurrence of an event the non-occurrence of which was a basic assumption on which the contract was made, his duty to render that performance is discharged, unless the language or the circumstances indicate the contrary.

Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6):

(b) How presented. Every defense, in law or fact, to claim for relief in any pleading, whether a claim, counterclaim, cross-claim, or third-party claim, shall be asserted in the responsive pleading thereto if one is required, except that the following defenses may at the option of the pleader be made by motion: . . . (6) failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

KPM's *Complaint* alleges that a dramatic and unforeseen escalation of liquid asphalt oil prices in 2008 after execution of the Contract with West Jordan caused KPM to suffer an unreasonable and excessive cost to complete the Project. (R. 1-3.) The *Complaint* also alleges that this escalation of asphalt oil prices was not addressed in the Contract, rendered performance of the Project impracticable, and that to hold KPM to the contract price would be unjust and cause an extreme, commercially unacceptable and unreasonable expense to KPM far beyond what was contemplated in the Project. (R. 3-4.)

The district court denied and then granted on reconsideration West Jordan's motion to dismiss based on its above-stated conclusion that KPM assumed any and all risks associated with the Project, and therefore could not rely on a commercial impracticability/commercial impossibility claim. (R. 245-247.)

B. Facts.

The following facts are drawn from KPM's *Complaint* and should be accepted as true for purpose of this appeal according to the Standard of Review described below:

On July 1, 2008, KPM submitted a bid to West Jordan to provide asphalt services, labor and materials for the Project. (R. 2.) KPM was awarded the job and entered into

the Contract with West Jordan on July 22, 2008. (R. 2.) The bid for the Project submitted by KPM was calculated based on the then-current liquid asphalt oil cost of \$350/ton. (R. 2.) Within a very short period of time, this cost increased threefold to \$1,005/ton. (R. 2.) This occurred because of an unprecedented and unforeseen escalation in crude oil prices which coincided with a severe shortage of liquid asphalt oil in the summer of 2008. (R. 2-3.)

On August 12, 2008, the Utah Chapter of the Associated General Contractors (the “AGC”) issued a Whitepaper stating that the instability of the crude oil prices and limited supply and shortage of asphalt had dramatically driven up the price of liquid asphalt. (R. 2, 32.) The AGC encouraged state entities to include asphalt price escalation clauses in their hot-mix asphalt contracts and not to compel contractors to predict future costs of liquid asphalt. (R. 3, 32.) The AGC further emphasized that “the current economic climate makes such costs extremely difficult to predict, and injecting such a large measure of uncertainty in the bidding process would introduce gross and potentially costly inefficiencies to procurement of necessary work.” (R. 3, 32.)

The Contract, written and prepared by West Jordan just prior to the AGC Whitepaper, did not contain an asphalt escalation clause. (R. 3.) Further, the risk of the unexpected escalation of asphalt oil prices was not specifically contemplated anywhere in the Contract. (R. 3.) Instead, Section 11.1 of the Contract addresses the potential for changes in the Contract price. Specifically, it states:

c. The value of any Work covered by a Change Order or Work Directive Change or of any claim for an increase or decrease in the Contract Price shall be determined in one of the following ways:

...

3. On the basis of the Cost of the Work . . . plus the Contractor's Fee for overhead and profit.

(R. 51.) Cost of the Work as referenced in above Article 11.1(c)(3) is defined as "the sum of all costs necessarily incurred and paid for by the Contractor for labor, materials, and equipment in the proper performance of the Work, plus the Contractor's fee for overhead and profit." (R. 35.)

Subsequent to executing the Contract and the unexpected increase in cost of liquid asphalt oil, KPM submitted a request to West Jordan's Engineering Department on August 22, 2008, for a price increase of \$91,000.00. (R. 3.) Although the City Manager presented an amendment to the Contract for approval of this price adjustment, the West Jordan City Counsel voted against the proposed amendment and denied KPM's request for price adjustment. (R. 3.)

C. Proceedings in the District Court.

On January 30, 2009, KPM filed an action against West Jordan in the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, alleging commercial impracticability, unjust enrichment, breach of contract, and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. (R. 1.) The *Complaint* alleges that the rapid and unexpected increase in liquid asphalt oil after execution of the Contract rendered KPM's completion of the Project at the contract price impracticable, or alternatively, West Jordan breached its obligations to KPM by refusing to grant a change order and reimburse KPM the increased cost of materials. (R. 1-8.)

West Jordan moved to dismiss the *Complaint* under Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. (R. 82-84.) West Jordan argued that all of KPM's claims should be dismissed because (1) West Jordan did not breach the Contract with KPM because it completed its final payment in accordance with the Contract terms; (2) it did not breach the covenant of good faith and fair dealing by refusing to authorize a Change Order for the increased cost; (3) West Jordan was not unjustly enriched because each party received what it bargained for; and (4) KPM assumed the risk of increased cost in the Contract, completed the Project, and thus there was no claim for commercial impracticability/practical impossibility. (R. 164-184.) Accordingly, West Jordan argued, KPM was not entitled to \$91,000.00 for increased costs. (R. 164-184.)

On June 30, 2009, the Honorable Judge Sandra Peuler heard oral arguments on West Jordan's *Motion to Dismiss*. (R. 194.) The district court subsequently dismissed all claims except KPM's first cause of action, "Commercial Impracticability/Practical Impossibility." (R. 194.) West Jordan then moved the district court to reconsider its ruling allowing KPM to proceed on its surviving first cause of action. (R. 204-206.) Acting on West Jordan's *Motion to Reconsider*, the district court dismissed KPM's commercial impracticability claim on January 12, 2010. (R. 245-247.) KPM appealed the ruling to this Court on February 3, 2010. (R. 248-253.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

KPM did not contract to assume any and all risks associated with its completion of the Project and, therefore, the unforeseen 300% increase in cost of liquid asphalt oil experienced after execution of the Contract allows KPM to make a claim against West Jordan for commercial impracticability. Although a party may “agree to perform in spite of impracticability,” in the absence of express language, the potential foreseeability of a particular event does not necessarily imply the assumption of this “greater obligation.” *See Restatement (Second) of Contracts* § 261 (1981), cmt. c. West Jordan has argued, and the district court has apparently concurred, that KPM contractually assumed *all* risks associated with the cost of materials, including those risks that would normally excuse KPM’s performance under the doctrine of impracticability. (R. 207-218.) In other words, the district court has decided that because KPM agreed to furnish materials at its expense, it can never assert a claim for commercial impracticability, regardless of any unforeseen increase in cost, no matter how abrupt, and no matter how extraordinary or excessive. (R. 242.)

The district court erred in dismissing KPM’s commercial impracticability claim for two reasons. First, the Contract does not explicitly the assign risk of any and all cost increases to KPM. The “four corners” of the Contract do not contain an absolute ceiling on the “Contract Price” or “Cost of Work” to West Jordan, nor does the Contract include any other written provision which conclusively evinces the parties’ intent to allocate the risk of impracticability solely to KPM. (R. 28-30; 34-73.) Based on common law principles of contractual interpretation, before the district court dismissed KPM’s claim,

it should have considered facts relating to the relative increase in cost to KPM and the attending circumstances of the parties (for example, the bargaining power of the City and the inability of KPM to negotiate an asphalt price escalation clause¹) and determined whether the impracticability was actually foreseen and exclusively assumed by KPM. *See Western Prop. v. Southern Utah Aviation, Inc.*, 776 P.2d 656, 659 n. 5 (Utah App. 1989) (noting that the “critical fact” is “whether the parties *actually did* foresee [the event] and provide accordingly in their contract” (emphasis in original text)); *Raytheon Co. v. Sec. of the Army*, 305 F.3d 1354, 1367 (Fed. Cir. 2002) (“Whether performance of a particular contract would be commercially senseless is a question of fact.”).

Second, the district court incorrectly interpreted the Contract’s terms to foreclose KPM’s claim of an increase in the contract price for impracticability. Contrary to West Jordan’s arguments and the district court’s determination, the Contract contemplates the potential for change in the contract price, including in this case, an increase for commercial impracticability. In addition to “Work covered by [a City-approved] Change Order,” Section 11.1(c) of the Contract provides a specific formula for determining “[t]he value of . . . any claim for an increase or decrease in the Contract Price” that would include KPM’s claim. (R. 51) (emphasis added) (determining the “Cost of Work” pursuant to sections 11.2 and 11.4). The rule of impracticability and this provision in the

¹ *See Restatement (Second) of Contracts* § 261, cmt. c (stating that “[c]ircumstances relevant in deciding whether a party has assumed a greater obligation include his ability to have inserted a provision in the contract expressly shifting the risk of impracticability to the other party”). As argued before the district court, the Contract prepared and mandated by West Jordan did not allow KPM to propose or even suggest an asphalt price escalation clause to mitigate the risk of impracticability. (R. 227.)

Contract provide a necessary mechanism for adjusting the contract price to compensate KPM for the extraordinary and unforeseen change of circumstances it experienced only a few short weeks after the Contract was executed.

Based on the facts as alleged in KPM's *Complaint*, and which must be accepted by this Court as true (*infra*), the subsequent 300% price escalation of liquid asphalt oil (the raw material required to perform the Contract) was materially excessive, abrupt, and unforeseen, thereby causing KPM to suffer an unreasonable and excessive cost increase, rendering KPM's performance on the Project impracticable and warranting its claim for relief. (R. 3.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A. Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6)

The grant of a motion to dismiss is reviewed de novo. *Miller v. State*, 226 P.3d 743, 746 (Utah App. 2010). A motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) is appropriate only if it appears the plaintiffs would not be entitled to relief under the facts alleged or under any state of facts the plaintiffs could prove to support the plaintiffs' claims. *Mackey v. Cannon*, 996 P.2d 1081, 1084 (Utah App. 2000); *Wells v. WalkerBank & Trust Co., Inc.*, 590 P.2d 1261, 1263 (Utah 1979). When reviewing whether a district court has properly granted a motion to dismiss under Utah R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), the appellate court accepts the factual allegations in KPM's *Complaint* as true and considers them and all reasonable inferences to be drawn from them in a light most favorable to the plaintiff. *Canyon Meadows Home Owners Assn. v. Wasatch County*, 40 P.3d 1148, 1151 (Utah App. 2001).

B. Contract Interpretation

A contract's interpretation may be either a question of law, determined by the words of the agreement, or a question of fact, determined by extrinsic evidence of intent. *Hoggan v. Hoggan*, 169 P.3d 750, 751-52 (Utah 2007) (quoting *Kimball v. Campbell*, 699 P.2d 714, 716 (Utah 1986)). So long as a court confines its analysis to the language of the contract and does not resort to extrinsic evidence of the parties' intent, interpretation of the contract is an issue of law and no deference is ceded to the district court's conclusion, which is reviewed for correctness. *Id.*; *Canyon Meadows*, 40 P.3d 1151-51.

C. Commercial Impracticability

Whether a contract is impracticable is a question of law reviewed de novo. *Central Kan. Credit Union v. Mutual Guar. Corp.*, 102 F.3d 1097, 1102 (10th Cir. 1996). "The district court's determination that a plaintiff's complaint 'fail[s] to state a claim upon which relief can be granted,' leading the court to grant the defendant's motion to dismiss under rule 12(b)(6) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, is a legal conclusion that [is] reviewed for correctness." *Summit Water Distrib. Co. v. Summit County*, 123 P.3d 437, 441 (Utah 2005). The district court's decision is afforded no deference. *Williams v. Bench*, 193 P.3d 640, 645 (Utah App. 2008).

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court Erred in Dismissing KPM's *Complaint* under Rule 12(b)(6)

Utah adopts the common law rule of impracticability that a contractual obligation "is deemed discharged if an unforeseen event occurs after formation of the contract and

without fault of the obligated party, which event makes performance of the obligation impossible or highly impracticable.” *Western Prop.*, 776 P.2d at 658 (citing *Holmgren v. Utah-Idaho Sugar Co.*, 582 P.2d 856, 861 (Utah 1978) and *Restatement (Second) of Contracts* § 261). Although this rule is usually phrased in terms of impossibility of performance, it can also apply in circumstances beyond absolute impossibility. *Restatement (Second) of Contracts* § 261, cmt. d. For example, “an unforeseen shutdown of major sources of supply, or the like,” which “causes a marked increase in cost” may render contractual performance impracticable. *Id.* The rule is based, in part, on a principle of “basic equity” (*Western Prop.*, 776 P.2d at 658) such that unforeseen increased costs “beyond the normal range,” even in a fixed-price contract, can invoke application. *Id.*²

Also, courts have recognized that the rule of impracticability may apply in broader circumstances beyond excusing performance. *See Corbin on Contracts* § 74.15 (2009) (“Like the common law in general, the impossibility doctrine is sufficiently flexible and adaptive to achieve just results dependent on the factual circumstances presented to the court.”); *see also, generally, Bitzes v. Sunset Oaks, Inc.*, 649 P.2d 66, 68 (Utah 1982) (stating that a liberal application of the doctrine of impossibility has been applied by the courts in recent years). In government contracting for example, a commercially impracticable contract can entitle a contractor to an equitable adjustment in price to

² Specifically, comment d to the Restatement provides: “A mere change in the degree of difficulty or expense due to such causes as increased wages, prices of raw materials, or costs of construction, *unless well beyond the normal range*, does not amount to impracticability since it is the sort of risk that a fixed-price contract is intended to cover.” (Emphasis added).

compensate for the constructive change imposed by an unforeseen event. *Raytheon*, 305 F.3d 1354, 1367 (Fed. Cir. 2002).³ Some states provide for equitable adjustments in public contracts even without reference to a specific clause in the given contract. *See M.J. Paquet, Inc. v. N.J. Dept. of Transp.*, 794 A.2d 141, 149-50 (N.J. 2002). Although it appears that Utah has yet to address this issue directly.

As discussed below, the district court erred in dismissing KPM's claim because KPM did not assume the risk of any and all price increases and the Contract allows for a price adjustment based on KPM's impracticability claim.

A. The District Court Erred in Determining that KPM Assumed the Risk of a Commercial Impracticability.

The district court determined that KPM expressly assumed the risk of impracticability under the Contract; namely, the extraordinary and unforeseen increase in cost of liquid asphalt oil that KPM realized shortly thereafter. (R. 242-244.) To find one side has assumed the risk of impracticability, the court must determine whether that risk was explicitly contracted for by the parties. *See Corbin on Contracts* § 74.15 (2009). Importantly, the principal factor for a determination of impracticability is actual foreseeability. *Western Prop.*, 776 P.2d at 659 n. 5. Because the rule is also based on the principle of assent, "the critical fact is not whether the event *could* have been foreseen, but rather, whether the parties *actually did* foresee it and provide accordingly in their

³ Although this case does not find the doctrine of impracticability applicable, it recognizes that "[i]n government contracting, impracticability has also been treated as a type of constructive change to the contract; because a commercially impracticable contract imposes substantial unforeseen costs on the contractor, the contract is entitled to an equitable adjustment."

contract.” *Id.* (emphasis in original). Most contracts (including the one at issue) do not explicitly allocate the burden of a specific risk and, more often, a court must examine the entire contract and other circumstances affecting the agreement to make such a determination. *Corbin on Contracts* § 74.15.

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