2010

Kilgore Pavement Maintenance, LLC, a Utah limited liability company v. City of West Jordan : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Kilgore is not entitled to use the doctrine of impracticability to obtain an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price. The doctrine of impracticability is not a sword to obtain affirmative monetary relief. It is a defense used to excuse one's performance under a contract before performance is complete. Kilgore is not seeking to have its performance excused. Kilgore completed its performance and now asserts that the defense of impracticability allows it to rewrite the Contract and increase the Contract Price. Using the impracticability defense as a sword in that manner is not legally allowed in Utah and would unfairly burden the City, among other things.

Kilgore's reliance on the impracticability defense to obtain monetary relief is further misplaced because the City did not make any changes to the Contract. The legal authorities on which Kilgore relies suggest an equitable adjustment may be permitted in public contracts. However, those same legal authorities make it clear that any such equitable adjustment is based on changes made by the government to the agreement.

Kilgore does not assert that the City made any changes to the Contract, and the City made no changes to the Contract causing additional work or costs.

Even if the Court were inclined to allow use of the impracticability defense to obtain affirmative monetary relief, Kilgore cannot use the doctrine in this case. It is well settled law that the doctrine of impracticability cannot be invoked, even as a defense, if the parties to the agreement have allocated a particular risk under the agreement. The district court properly concluded that the defense of impracticability does not apply if Kilgore assumed the risk of an increase in the cost of materials.

The district court properly concluded that Kilgore assumed the risk of an increase in the cost of materials, including the cost of liquid asphalt oil. The Contract is clear and unambiguous. Kilgore entered into a fixed price contract, agreeing to accept the Contract Price in full payment for its performance under the Contract. Kilgore expressly assumed responsibility for the cost of all materials, and the City expressly disclaimed any responsibility for Kilgore's failure to perform. Kilgore completed its performance under the Contract, and the City paid Kilgore the Contract Price. Pursuant to the express terms of the Contract, the City is released of any further liability. Because the Contract is unambiguous, it must be enforced as written, and Kilgore cannot be allowed to rewrite the Contract to increase the Contract Price.

ARGUMENT

This appeal concerns only the district court's dismissal of Kilgore's attempt to obtain affirmative monetary relief via the defense of impracticability. Kilgore has abandoned its affirmative relief claims for breach of contract, unjust enrichment and

breach of good faith and fair dealing. The district court dismissed those claims, and Kilgore has not appealed them.⁵ The Court must reject Kilgore's attempt to use the impracticability defense to obtain affirmative monetary relief.

I.

AN "EQUITABLE ADJUSTMENT" IS NOT LEGALLY AVAILABLE

A. The Doctrine of Impracticability Is a Shield, Not a Sword

Kilgore seeks an "equitable adjustment" in the Contract Price. Appellant's Brief, at 16-17. In essence, Kilgore attempts to use the doctrine of impracticability to obtain affirmative monetary relief. However, the doctrine of impracticability is universally recognized as a defense against a breach of contract action, not as a sword to obtain affirmative monetary relief. See e.g., *Western Properties v. Southern Utah Aviation, Inc.*, 776 P.2d 656, 658 (Utah Ct. App. 1989)("[A]n obligation is deemed discharged" under the **defense** of impossibility or impracticability.); Arthur Linton Corbin, *CONTRACTS*, §§ 74.1-78.10 (2001)(discussing the interchangeable **defenses** of impossibility, impracticability and frustration of purpose); Restatement (Second) of Contracts §§ 261, 265 (1981)(discussing the interchangeable **defenses** of impracticability and frustration of purpose). The impracticability defense is asserted as a shield to excuse or discharge a party's performance under a contract.

Kilgore did not seek discharge of its obligation to perform under the Contract in the trial court, and it does not now seek discharge. At no time in this action has Kilgore

⁵Kilgore's counsel conceded in the district court that its contract claims (breach of contract, breach of duty of good faith and unjust enrichment) were not applicable. R. 260, at 33-34.

contended that it was impracticable to complete its performance under the Contract. Nor could it. Kilgore obtained the liquid asphalt oil, completed the project, and the City paid Kilgore the Contract Price. Only after completing the project, did Kilgore ask the City to increase the Contract Price. In the district court and on appeal Kilgore improperly seeks to use the impracticability defense to obtain monetary relief, an increase in the Contract Price, instead of properly using it as a defense to excuse a failure to perform under the Contract.

Kilgore's sole argument on appeal is that the impracticability defense can be used as a sword. The City has not found any judicial opinion or other legal authority recognizing use of the impracticability defense as a sword. Even the legal authorities cited by Kilgore describe the doctrine as a defense to excuse one's nonperformance under a contract. See Corbin at §§ 74.1-78.10 (discussing the interchangeable defenses of impossibility, impracticability and frustration of purpose all of which result in the discharge of one's performance); *Bitzes v. Sunset Oaks, Inc.*, 649 P.2d 66 (Utah 1982)(Defendant asserted the "defense of 'impossibility'" to discharge its obligation to perform under the contract. The Utah Supreme Court upheld the trial court's rejection of the defense.); *M.J. Paquet, Inc. v. N.J. Dept. of Transportation*, 794 A.2d 141, 148-49 (N.J. 2002)(The parties' nonperformance under the contract was excused based on the defense of impracticability.). Kilgore's authorities do not allow use of the impracticability defense as an offensive weapon to obtain affirmative monetary relief.

Kilgore should not be allowed to use the impracticability defense as a sword. First, to do so would be contrary to hundreds of years of jurisprudence and contrary to

legions of cases applying the doctrine only as a defense. Second, Kilgore should not be allowed to contort the impracticability defense to obtain affirmative monetary relief having purposefully abandoned its contract and unjust enrichment claims. Having failed to appeal the dismissal of its breach of contract, breach of good faith and unjust enrichment claims, Kilgore must now live with its chosen remedy, which is only a defense. Third, allowing offensive use of the impracticability defense would deprive the City of its right to mitigate its damages. If Kilgore had ceased work, claiming impracticability, the City could have sought another contractor to complete the project; or, the City could have chosen not to complete the project, to utilize its funds elsewhere for another project and to wait to complete the road project when prices decreased. Allowing Kilgore to use the impracticability defense to obtain monetary relief would unfairly burden the City.

B. The City Did Not Make Any Changes to the Work Causing Added Costs

Kilgore relies primarily on *M.J. Paquet, Inc. v. N.J. Dept. of Transportation*, 794 A.2d 141, 148-49 (N.J. 2002) for the proposition that it can use the impracticability defense to obtain an “equitable adjustment.” Conceding that Utah has not addressed the issue, Kilgore cites *Paquet* for the proposition that: “Some states provide for equitable adjustments in public contracts even without reference to a specific clause in the given contract.” Appellant’s Brief, at 17. Kilgore misunderstands *Paquet*.

Although the *Paquet* court acknowledged cases in which an equitable adjustment was permitted in public contracts, it noted that an equitable adjustment was permitted in those cases because the government modified the contract. Because New Jersey had not

adopted the concept, the *Paquet* court looked to federal government cases. *Id.* at 149-50. The *Paquet* court noted several federal court cases permitting an equitable adjustment in public contracts both where the contract contained an express equitable adjustment clause and where the contract did not. The *Paquet* court noted, however, that a “significant majority” contained an express equitable adjustment clause in the public contract. Under both circumstances, however, the equitable adjustment was allowed because the government modified the contract. “Stated simply, the purpose of an equitable adjustment is “to keep a contractor whole when the Government modifies a contract.”” *Id.* at 149. The “proper measure” of an equitable adjustment is “the difference between what it would have cost to perform the work as originally required and what it cost to perform the work as changed.”” *Id.*

The *Paquet* court granted the contractor an equitable adjustment because the New Jersey Department of Transportation modified the contract. *Id.* at 154. The DOT solicited bids for certain highway improvements including bridge painting work, and the contractor submitted a bid covering the work. *Id.* at 144-45. Subsequently, OSHA regulations changed the work. Therefore, the DOT eliminated the bridge painting work from the contract. The contractor asserted its entitlement to an equitable adjustment, which the court granted, because the DOT modified the contract. *Id.* at 150-54.⁶ See

⁶ *Paquet* is also inapplicable because the contractor in *Paquet* did not seek an increase in the original DOT contract price. *Id.* at 152. The contractor inflated its bid for bridge painting work and understated its bid for non-bridge painting work. *Id.* at 151. The equitable adjustment sought was “compensation for work that has not been deleted from the contract by the DOT—work that *Paquet* has performed and for which the DOT is contractually obligated to pay. It is not ‘increased’ or ‘augmented’ compensation,

also, *Raytheon Co. v. Sec. of the Army*, 305 F.3d 1354 (Fed. Cir. 2002), another case cited by Kilgore (a highly technical case evaluating a claim under federal government contract rules for additional contract compensation because of over 300 contract changes by the government.).

Kilgore does not assert that the City changed the Contract, and the City made no changes to the Contract work. Neither *Paquet* nor the cases it cited support Kilgore's claim for an "equitable adjustment."

II.

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT THE DOCTRINE OF IMPRACTICABILITY DOES NOT APPLY IF THE PARTIES HAVE ALLOCATED THE RISK

Even if the Court were generally inclined to allow use of the impracticability defense as a sword, Kilgore cannot use the doctrine in this case. It is well settled that the doctrines of impossibility and impracticability cannot be invoked, even as a defense, "if the party seeking discharge assumed the risk that the disabling event might occur."

Corbin at § 74.15.

Utah law recognizes that the doctrine of impracticability does not apply if the parties have allocated a particular risk under the contract. *Western Properties v. Southern Utah Aviation, Inc.*, 776 P.2d 656, 658 (Utah Ct. App. 1989), *Quagliana v. Exquisite*

because the DOT, and ultimately the New Jersey taxpayer, will not pay any more under the contract than it would have paid" If Kilgore is awarded an equitable adjustment, the City and ultimately its taxpayers will be required to pay more under the Contract than the City would have paid.

Home Builders, Inc., 538 P.2d 301, 305-08 (Utah 1975), *Sine v. Rudy*, 493 P.2d 299 (Utah 1972), and *Mooney v. G.R. & Associates*, 746 P.2d 1174 (Utah Ct. App. 1987), all cases relied on by Kilgore in the district court,⁷ recognize that the doctrine of impracticability does not apply if the parties have allocated a particular risk under the contract. In *Western Properties*, the court observed that the failure of a city to approve development of land could be an unforeseen event sufficient to invoke the impossibility defense, but only in “the absence of any contractual allocation of the risk of the city’s non-cooperation.” 776 P.2d at 658-59. In *Quagliana*, the court observed: “[T]here is nothing in the agreement, from which an interpretation can be inferred, that it was the intention of either party to assume the risks produced by the erroneous assumptions.” 538 P.2d at 306. In *Mooney*, the court recognized that “a contract often functions primarily to insulate the parties from uncertainty and to allocate the risk of future events.” 746 P.2d at 1178. In *Sine*, the court distinguished another case in which the parties allocated the risk of zoning restrictions. It stated, “We think that [*Young v. Texas Co.*,

⁷ R. 164-73. Kilgore has abandoned its reliance on these cases proffered in the district court. Other than *Western Properties*, Kilgore’s brief makes no reference to these cases, and Kilgore’s reliance on *Western Properties* is limited to broad, general principles. The City assumes Kilgore has abandoned those cases because none of them support its position. They are both factually inapplicable, and they recognize that the doctrine of impracticability is not available to a party who assumed a particular risk. Although not Utah cases, Kilgore also relied heavily on *Aluminum Co. of America v. Essex Group, Inc.*, 499 F. Supp. 53 (W.D. Pa. 1980) (“ALCOA”) and *Publicker Industries, Inc. v. Union Carbide Corp.*, 17 UCC Rep. 989 (E.D. Pa. 1975) in the district court. *Id.* Both *Publicker Industries* and ALCOA essentially enforce the allocation of risk expressed in the parties’ contracts or in accordance with the parties’ intent as expressed in the contract. Hence, neither supports application of the impracticability defense in this case.

331 P.2d 1099 (Utah 1958)] not dispositive here, since both parties knew of the zoning restrictions, and one of them, as a term of the lease, agreed to obtain clearance thereof as part of the consideration,--quite dissimilar from the facts here.” 493 P.2d at 300. The common thread of all these cases is that the defense of impracticability is not available if the parties have allocated the risk between them.

The City has been unable to locate any case allowing application of the impracticability defense where the parties contractually allocated the risk between them. Kilgore, implicitly if not expressly, concedes it cannot invoke the impracticability defense if the Contract allocated the risk of an increase in the cost of materials to it. Appellant’s Brief, at 17-18.

III.

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT THE PARTIES ALLOCATED THE RISK TO KILGORE

The issue before the Court is whether the trial court erred in determining that Kilgore assumed the risk of an increase in the price of liquid asphalt oil. If it appears that Kilgore would not be entitled to relief under the facts as alleged, the trial court’s dismissal is correct. Appellant’s Brief, at 14.

A. Unambiguous Contracts Cannot Be Rewritten.

“[C]ourts must enforce an unambiguous contract and ‘may not rewrite [a] . . . contract . . . if the language is clear.’” *Utah Farm Bureau Insurance Co. v. Crook*, 980

P.2d 685, 687 (Utah 1999). In *Palmer v. Davis*, 808 P.2d 128 (Utah Ct. App. 1991), the court held:

This court cannot rewrite the contract because appellant failed to include language to protect her rights. . . . The Utah Supreme Court has . . . [noted:] '[a] court will not . . . make a better contract for the parties than they have made for themselves,' adding that 'an express agreement or covenant relating to a specific contract right excludes the possibility of an implied covenant of a different or contradictory nature.'

Id. at 132. It is implicit in the district court's dismissal of Kilgore's breach of contract, breach of good faith and unjust enrichment claims that the Contract is not ambiguous.

Kilgore does not contend otherwise. Because the Contract is clear and unambiguous, it must be enforced as written.⁸

B. The Unambiguous Contract Establishes That Kilgore Assumed the Risk

Because the Contract⁹ is unambiguous, its interpretation is a question of law. Appellant's Brief, at 15. The Contract, taken as a whole,¹⁰ combined with Kilgore's complaint and other admissions establishes that the parties allocated the risk to Kilgore and that the trial court did not err.

Risk assumption need not be express. Professor Corbin explained: "Generally speaking, risk assumption may be understood in several ways: by voluntary assent to

⁸ Kilgore's legal counsel conceded that the Contract should be upheld: "I don't think that anybody, including me, is telling this Court not to follow well established contract law that contracts should be upheld, and that both sides should live by the bargain they struck. That is the law, and I am certainly not here asking, nor was I here asking last time, for the Court to do anything but uphold those contracts." R. 261, at 17.

⁹ Kilgore's Complaint incorporated the Contract.

¹⁰ *Jones v. ERA Brokers Consolidated*, 2000 UT 61 (The Contract must be interpreted as a whole.)

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